THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 07 2014

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-002499

Anderson County Appellant,

vs.

Joey Preston and The South Carolina Retirement System Respondents.

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT
ANDERSON COUNTY**

J. Theodore Gentry (No. 64038)
Troy A. Tessier (No. 13354)
Wade S. Kolb III (No. 100379)
WYCHE, P.A.
44 East Camperdown Way
Greenville, SC 29601
Telephone: 864-242-8200
Telecopier: 864-235-8900
E-Mail: tgentry@wyche.com;
ttessier@wyche.com; wkolb@wyche.com

Alice W. Parham Casey (No. 13459)
WYCHE, P.A.
801 Gervais Street, Suite B

ISSUES ON APPEAL

On November 18, 2008, the outgoing County Council of Anderson County, dominated by political allies of County Administrator Joey Preston, voted to give Preston a Severance Package worth over \$1.1 million. The vote to approve the Severance Agreement included the County Council Chair, who was actively soliciting Preston for a County job at the time. This appeal presents the following questions:

1. Did the Circuit Court err in approving of the Severance Package, given that the Package was a product of fraud and abuse of power, and was unreasonable, capricious, and a violation of public policy because it was based on a phantom claim, paid Preston more than the maximum value provided for in his Employment Agreement, and was passed in a manner inconsistent with the democratic process, and that Preston knew these facts?
2. Did the Circuit Court err in approving the Severance Package despite the fact the Package was passed with votes of Council members with patent conflicts of interest?
3. Where Preston was plainly aware of the improper votes being cast in favor of his million-dollar severance, did the Circuit Court err in holding that Preston had no duty to point out the impropriety, and in holding that the Severance Agreement cannot be rescinded for breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, constructive fraud, or negligent misrepresentation?
4. Where the Circuit Court's Order invalidated a total of four votes and held that the Severance Agreement passed by a 2-1 vote, and where three votes do not constitute a quorum of the Anderson County Council, did the Circuit Court err in refusing to invalidate the Severance Agreement, and in denying Anderson County's motion to amend its Complaint to seek invalidation on the basis of this absence of a quorum?

5. Did the Circuit Court err in holding that future payments due to Preston from the South Carolina Retirement System – payments made possible only because of the Severance Package – are not available in fashioning a remedy for the impropriety of the Severance Package?
6. Did the Circuit Court err in holding that the equitable remedy of rescission is unavailable to address the improprieties of the Severance Agreement?
7. Did the Circuit Court err in holding that Anderson County’s lawsuit to challenge the Severance Agreement violated the terms of the Settlement Agreement, and that Preston therefore may petition for attorney’s fees?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Anderson County filed its Complaint on November 12, 2009. (R. pp. 84-96)

Preston filed an Answer and Counterclaim on August 10, 2010. (R. pp. 109-122)

Anderson County filed its Reply to Counterclaim on September 7, 2010. (R. pp. 123-126)

On December 12, 2011, the case was designated as complex, and on February 28, 2012 it was assigned for all purposes to the Honorable Roger L. Couch. (R. pp. 80 & 81)

Anderson County filed an Amended Complaint on March 30, 2012. (R. pp. 127-159)

Preston filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint and Counterclaim on May 3, 2012. (R. pp. 160–228)

Anderson County filed its Reply on June 29, 2012. (R. pp. 229-237)

Certain of Preston’s counterclaims – arising out of his arrest for driving under the influence and allegations concerning an investigation of Preston in 2009 – were settled by agreement and dismissed by stipulation filed on October 23, 2012. (R. pp. 247-248)

The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment, which were heard on October 16-17, 2012 and denied in all respects as to both parties by Order dated October 23, 2012. (R. pp. 82-83) The matter was tried without a jury to Judge Couch from

October 29, 2012 through November 2, 2012. Judge Couch made his rulings in an Order dated May 3, 2013. (R. pp. 1-43)

Anderson County filed its Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on May 13, 2013. (R. pp. 3163-3176) Anderson County also filed a post-trial Motion to Amend Complaint, in light of Judge Couch's disqualification of four votes, on July 15, 2013. (R. pp. 3245-3270) Both of those motions were denied by Order filed November 8, 2013. (R. pp. 44-79)

Anderson County filed its Notice of Appeal on November 22, 2013.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Introduction

On November 18, 2008, Joey Preston and a lame duck County Council controlled by his political allies abandoned any pretext that they were public servants with fiduciary obligations to the citizens of Anderson County. They were so intent on thwarting what – they were sure – the incoming majority had planned that they ignored fundamental rules of conflict of interest, and their obligation to deal prudently with public money.

The result was an unjustifiable \$1.1 million payout to a public servant (the "Package" or "Severance Agreement"). The purported basis for the payment was settlement of a logically impossible claim that Preston's existing employment contract (the "Employment Agreement") had been "anticipatorily breached." This claim was plainly without merit, since the Employment Agreement provided that Preston could be terminated at any time, without cause, and because the purported "breach" was a prediction of future political action by persons who were not in office and so could not act for the County. In fact, Preston was in no danger of termination by the existing Council, which included a solid majority of his supporters. The Severance Package further offended rationality by

giving a public official far more than the severance to which he would have been entitled under his Employment Agreement under any scenario – including a \$7,600 per month public pension for life, starting at age 45, courtesy of the taxpayers.

Michael Thompson, who chaired the meeting, was actively courting Preston for a County job at the time of the vote. The daughter of the chair of the Personnel Committee – who negotiated the Severance Package and introduced it onto the agenda with the statement that he was the only Council member who had read it – had only two weeks before received a ridiculously beneficial contract obviously designed to tie the hands of any future Council that might want to terminate her contract.

The primary justification offered by Preston at trial for his golden parachute was that his friends on County Council could legitimately pay Preston whatever amount they chose – without judicial scrutiny – because the political atmosphere in Anderson County was “toxic.” To prove this “toxicity,” Preston pointed to an amalgam of events that occurred years before, anonymous acts not attributable to the County, and predictions of future legislative action by persons not yet in office. It is noteworthy, though, that Preston endured this purported “toxicity” until the voters of Anderson County elected a new County Council. What Preston wanted to call a “breach” was nothing more than a change in the political landscape. It was utterly arbitrary for the outgoing Council to use public money to pay Preston over a million dollars, fully funding his retirement, because he might – in the future – face a difficult political landscape, in what is plainly a political job.

The Circuit Court established a potentially harmful precedent in placing the law’s imprimatur on these corrupt goings-on. Under that ruling, a million-dollar severance package that was voted to a public servant by legislators with clear financial ties to him is acceptable. Under that ruling, a “severance” payment to a public servant far in excess of

any arguable legal entitlement is reasonable. Under that ruling, a public servant does nothing wrong when he sits silently by and allows tainted votes to be cast for his own severance. That ruling should be reversed.

II. Preston's Tenure and His Employment Contract

Joey Preston was the County Administrator of Anderson County from 1996 through most of 2008. (R. pp. 912-913) In July of 1998, Preston obtained an Employment Agreement with the County. (R. pp. 1891-1899) The Employment Agreement was favorable to Preston. It purported to have an initial term of three years, and to renew perpetually for an additional year at the close of each contract year. (R. p. 1892)

Importantly, the Employment Agreement expressly allowed termination without cause. Thus, termination itself – with or without cause – could not be a breach.

A. The Administrator serves at the pleasure of Council, and nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit, or otherwise interfere with the right of Anderson County Council to terminate the services of the Administrator at any time, subject only to the provisions set forth in Section 3, paragraphs A, B, and C of this Agreement.

(R. p. 1892 at Sec. 2.A) In the event of termination without cause, the Employment Agreement included a provision for severance pay and benefits:

B. If the Administrator is terminated for any reason other than those set out above, he shall be deemed to have been terminated without cause and shall be entitled to all pay and financial benefits remaining on his contract for the balance of the contract period in a lump sum or in incremental payments, as he, in his sole discretion, shall choose, as severance pay for such termination without cause. . . . The total severance pay under this Agreement shall not exceed thirty-six (36) months aggregate, total compensation at the rate of pay in effect upon termination. . . .

(R. p. 1893 at Sec. 3.B) While the Employment Agreement was generous, contrary to Preston's view, it provided him no guarantee of employment for life.

III. Election of a New Council, and Preston's Claim of "Anticipatory Breach"

In Anderson County, the entire County Council stands for re-election every two years. (R. p. 307, line 18-p. 308, line 1) In June of 2008, challengers won primary elections against several incumbent County Council members who were friendly to Preston. (R. pp. 310-312; pp. 925-928) Because those primary victors would not face an opponent in the general election, the practical effect was that they would very probably take office as part of a new County Council in January 2009. (R. pp. 935-936; pp. 1187-1188) Some of the new Council members, along with two returning Council members, had run on platforms calling for examination and possible reform of the financial and governance practices of the Preston administration. (R. pp. 310-312)

It is important to emphasize that this new Council would not be sworn in before January 2009, and that until then the old Council – a majority of which was vigorously supportive of Preston – remained in office. (R. pp. 312-313; pp. 1199-1200) Preston recognized this and acted swiftly to exit on favorable terms before the potential investigation could get underway.

Preston engaged attorney Rob Hoskins to assert a claim against the County for him. Hoskins first wrote to County Council on September 25, 2008 – that is, before the general election in November. (R. pp. 1914-1915) In that letter, Hoskins asserted on behalf of Preston that the *intent* of the *incoming* majority-elect to examine the Preston years amounted to an "anticipatory breach" of Preston's Employment Agreement: "[i]t has come to Mr. Preston's attention that certain existing Council Members have made statements that they and certain newly elected Council Members *intend, after January 2009*, to prevent him from carrying out his duties as County Administrator." (*Id.*; emphasis added) Thus, Preston's anticipatory breach claim was based on a forecast in September 2008 that future

actions of a future Council would “render[] his ability to serve the people of Anderson County beyond January 1, 2009 impossible.” (*Id.*) Despite all the discussion at trial of the “toxic” environment, the simple fact was that the *only* event that led to Preston’s claim of “breach” was a free election; Anderson County never took any official action affecting Mr. Preston’s contract or his employment status.

IV. The Lame Duck Council’s Response to Preston’s Demand

The sitting Council referred Preston’s claim to its Personnel Committee, chaired by Ron Wilson. (R. p. 334, lines 10-19; p. 1189, lines 3-15; pp. 989-990) Wilson – who has since pled guilty to operating a multi-million-dollar Ponzi scheme – was a Preston supporter. (R. p. 316, lines 17-20; pp. 685-687)

The Personnel Committee hired an employment attorney – Tom Bright – to advise it. (R. pp. 2003-2006; p. 338, lines 5-25; pp. 441-442; p. 1190, lines 10-24) Bright advised the committee and Council that Preston did not at the time have a claim for “anticipatory breach,” and that Council had the option of doing nothing. (R. pp. 458-460; pp. 340-341; p. 1198, lines 1-23) Bright also advised the committee that Preston’s Employment Agreement might be wholly invalid under *Piedmont Public Service District v. Cowart*, 319 S.C. 124, 459 S.E.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1995), because the Agreement purported to extend beyond the term of the County Council that approved it. (R. p. 459, lines 12-18; p. 471, line 24-p. 472, line 3; pp. 477-479) Ignoring this advice, the Personnel Committee instructed Bright to negotiate a settlement with Preston – he was told to “try and get the best deal you can.” (R. p. 464, line 21-p. 465, line 17)

On October 23, 2008, Preston’s lawyer sent Bright a letter making a demand for \$1,276,081.00: \$827,222.00 for the “total value of the money and benefits due” under Preston’s Employment Agreement (as calculated by Preston’s lawyer); \$356,087.00 to

purchase service credits to allow him to retire immediately on a full pension; and \$92,772.00 to fund a health reimbursement account. (R. pp. 2026-2028)

The October 23, 2008 Hoskins letter acknowledged that Preston's demand was for more than Preston was due under his Employment Agreement, calculating the total amount due under the Employment Agreement as \$827,222.00. (*Id.*) Hoskins justified this by alluding to unspecified "tort claims" that Preston would assert against current and incoming Council members – presumably those pledged to investigate his regime. (*Id.*) In fact, though, Preston's demand was not calibrated to those tort wrongs, but was *expressly* calculated to allow Preston to retire immediately with a full pension.

Faced with the outgoing Council's determination to settle, Bright had little negotiating leverage. (R. pp. 464-465, 468-472) The final Severance Package called for payments of approximately \$1.1 million, which included full severance under the Employment Agreement *plus* purchase of service credits to give Preston a lifetime pension at age 45.¹ (R. pp. 1002-1003; pp. 1985-1989; pp. 2026-2028; pp. 2037-2039)

V. County Council's Series of Votes on the Severance Package

The Severance Package was considered at the scheduled November 18, 2008 meeting of County Council. The meeting was video-recorded and transcribed. (R. pp. 1918-1959; p. 1983) The videotape is impossible to watch without seeing that Preston's supporters made a choreographed effort to ram through approval of the Severance Package with no notice to those who would oppose its passage and with as little time for deliberation and public comment as possible.

¹ Had Preston not received this Severance Package, he would not have been entitled to receive retirement payments until he turned sixty. (R. pp. 1287-1292; pp. 251-252 at ¶¶ 5-10; pp. 253-255 at ¶¶ 5, 11-14)

All seven Council members were present for the vote on Preston's Severance Package on November 18, 2008. Five were friendly to Preston. The other two – Bob Waldrep and Cindy Wilson – had supported investigation of his administration. (R. pp. 2170-2226; p. 420, lines 13-21; pp. 1199-1200; p. 921, lines 14-24; pp. 1327-1329, 1331-1332)

Despite prior, coordinated groundwork by certain Council members to locate funding for the Severance Package and to orchestrate its passage, consideration of the Severance Package was not placed on the agenda distributed in advance of the November 18 meeting. (R. pp. 1916-1917; pp. 344-346; pp. 546-547; p. 821; pp. 1202-1222). Instead, on Ron Wilson's motion the agenda was amended – toward the end of the meeting – to add the matter. (R. pp. 1940-1941; p. 1983) This occurred even though there remained other scheduled Council meetings in 2008 when the Severance Package could have been placed on the agenda in advance. (R. pp. 344-346, 349-354; p. 1223)

When he introduced the Severance Package, Ron Wilson said that “no one has seen this except Mr. Bright and myself.” (R. p. 1965, lines 1-3; p. 1983) Despite this, there was essentially no discussion of the details of the Settlement Package, Preston's asserted claim, or the value of the Package. After truncated debate, Bill McAbee moved to end debate. (R. pp. 1963-1968; p. 1983) That motion passed, and the Severance Package was approved by a vote of 5-2, with Cindy Wilson and Waldrep voting against. (R. p. 1968; p. 1983)

This, however, did not end the matter. Councilman Greer revealed he had consulted in advance with County employees to identify “an area [of the general fund budget] in which they could locate this amount of money.” (R. p. 1969, lines 1-11; p. 1983; p. 2044; pp. 2047-2048) Greer passed out a previously prepared document showing

how the Preston Settlement Package could be funded. (R. p. 1946; p. 1983; pp. 1990-1992) The motion to approve budget transfers to fund the Settlement Package passed. (R. p. 1946, line 11-p. 1948, line 45; p. 1983)

At that point – in a truly remarkable moment – Councilwoman Floyd asked “Do we need to vote to reconsider this?” (R. p. 1949, lines 2-3; p. 1983) This showed that the majority had planned a strategic series of votes for the Preston Package. In fact, Greer testified that he had a working copy of Preston’s severance agreement in advance of the November 18, 2008 meeting (R. p. 1210, lines 3-9); that he never shared that copy with Council members Cindy Wilson or Waldrep (R. p. 1210, lines 14-17); and that he spoke with each of the other four members of Council who voted with him in favor of Preston’s severance agreement before the November 18, 2008 Council meeting because he was interested in “knowing, in advance of the November 18th meeting, whether or not [he] had sufficient votes to approve the severance agreement for Mr. Preston.” (R. p. 1210, line 22-p. 1211, line 19)

After this reminder, a motion was made to reconsider the funding transfers. (R. p. 1949; p. 1983) That passed, and after another truncated debate that was primarily squashed by Chairman Thompson on a point of order, McAbee moved to end debate. (R. p. 1950; p. 1983) The funding package was then re-approved on reconsideration. (R. p. 1951; p. 1983)

Promptly thereafter, McAbee moved to reconsider the Severance Package. (R. p. 1951; p. 1983) McAbee acknowledged that he made this motion *not* out of a desire to see the measure fail, but as a “parliamentary tactic” designed to insulate the approval against any later attack – based on his understanding that once a matter has been reconsidered once, “it precludes any further reconsideration.” (R. pp. 628-629)

Immediately after his motion to reconsider was passed – within about *12 seconds* – McAbee moved to end debate on the matter he wanted reconsidered. (R. p. 1951, line 10-p. 1953, line 9; p. 1983) The motion to end debate passed, but only by 4-3, with Greer joining Waldrep and Cindy Wilson in voting against. (R. p. 1952, lines 34-37; p. 1983)

The final Council vote on the Severance Package followed. Waldrep abstained, having earlier explained an abstention with the statement that he “can’t figure out what in the world” Council was doing. (R. p. 1951, lines 33-35; p. 1952, line 34-p. 1953, line 9; p. 1983) In the meeting minutes, the final recorded vote was 5 in favor, 1 against, and 1 abstention. (R. p. 1953, lines 6-9; p. 1983) Immediately after that vote, the Council took up a motion to hire a new administrator. (R. pp. 1953-1959; p. 1983). Floyd had a proposed contract for the new administrator already with her, again confirming the majority had orchestrated this series of votes in advance. (R. p. 1953, lines 12-35; p. 1983) At that point, despite several agenda items that remained undiscussed, Thompson solicited a motion to adjourn and Council adjourned without conducting any further business. (R. p. 1959, lines 15-42; p. 1983).

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