THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-002499

---

---

Anderson County,.....Appellant,

v.

Joey Preston and the South Carolina Retirement System.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JOEY PRESTON**

---

Lane W. Davis  
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP  
104 South Main Street  
Poinsett Plaza, Suite 900  
P.O. Box 10084 (29603)  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 250-2300

Candy M. Kern-Fuller  
Upstate Law Group, LLC  
SC Bar No. 011392  
200 E. Main St.  
Easley, S.C. 29640  
(864)-855-3114

RECEIVED  
OCT 09 2014

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

#### **VI. APPELLANT FAILED TO TIMELY RAISE ITS OTHERWISE LEGALLY AND FACTUALLY INCORRECT QUORUM ARGUMENT**

According to Appellant, the lower court erred because the disqualification of Waldrep's and C. Wilson's votes deprived the County of a quorum ("Quorum Argument"). (See App. Brief, pp. 47-50.)<sup>58</sup> Appellant's Quorum Argument fails due to the following reasons:

---

<sup>58</sup> Appellant errantly states: "Anderson County challenged only three votes cast for the Severance Package. No other votes were challenged in the pleadings." (App. Brief, p. 47.) Not so. Ignored by Appellant, the lower court found both the County's Complaint and Preston's Answer required the trial court to analyze the votes of all Council members. (R. pp. 6 & FN4; 133, ¶35; 59-60 & FN29-35.) As the lower court also found, "The disqualification of Waldrep's and C. Wilson's votes do not even implicate a true affirmative defense, but rather form part of Plaintiff's *prima facie* proof of the claims Appellant alleged in seeking to invalidate Council's action." (R. p. 59.) Finally, Appellant never interposed a challenge to the lower court's finding where it held: "The Parties otherwise tried the issue of disqualifying Waldrep's and C. Wilson's votes pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRCP...The court allowed the evidence at trial and addressed the same on page 6 of its Order." (Id.) Thus, the County errs by suggesting the issue was not adequately raised at trial because it clearly was.

#### A. Having Never Raised the Issue at Trial, Appellant Waived the Quorum Issue

First, as the lower court correctly found, the County failed to preserve the quorum issue "as the issue was never presented to the Court" during trial. (R. pp. 44-49; 58.)<sup>59</sup> Instead, Appellant impermissibly raised the issue—for the first time in its Motion to Reconsider—*after* evidence closed and *after* the lower court spent nearly five (5) months authoring its final order. (R. p. 58 & FN30-32.)

It is axiomatic: "A party cannot raise an issue for the first time in a Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion which could have been raised at trial." MailSource, LLC v. M.A. Bailey & Assocs., Inc., 356 S.C. 370, 374, 588 S.E.2d 639, 641 (Ct.App. 2003). Here, during the trial phase, the disqualification of Waldrep's and C. Wilson's votes arose *inter alia*: during Waldrep's cross-examination (see R. pp. 419, line 422, line 4), during Preston's directed verdict motion (see R. p. 1351, lines 13-21 ("[T]he Court should discount both the votes of Cindy Wilson and Bob Waldrep"), and in both Parties' closings (see R. pp. 3068-3069 *with* Preston's Closing, 3125-3126 & 3152.)<sup>60</sup> Moreover, as the trial court

---

<sup>59</sup> The lower court also noted, "At trial, Plaintiff actually argued the exact opposite position concerning the votes of Waldrep and C. Wilson instead contending such votes were properly cast." (R. p. 44.)

<sup>60</sup> The lower court correctly distinguished between the issue concerning the disqualification of C. Wilson's and Waldrep's votes under ethics provisions with the issue of whether a quorum existed. While related, the issues are legally and factually distinct involving different provisions of Anderson County's Code and different factual inquiries. (R. pp. 48-49 & FN8.) Thus, the two issues are not the same. If Appellant desired to raise the latter, it had ample opportunity to do so but for tactical reasons it did not. (See infra.)

found, "the evidence of record reflects the issue had arisen and was factually developed during the discovery phase." (R. p. 60, FN35.)<sup>61</sup>

Appellant implausibly suggests it lacked an opportunity to raise the quorum issue—until after the lower court entered judgment and it filed its Reconsideration Motion. Not so. During trial, what the County *did* was to pursue a discrepant legal and factual theory than what it advances on appeal. (R. p. 45.) As discussed above, the issue of

---

<sup>61</sup> The County also off-handedly implies the general release contained in the Severance Agreement did not disqualify C. Wilson and Waldrep because: the release generally released *all* Council members (see App. Brief p. 47), C. Wilson and Waldrep voted against the Severance Agreement (see App. Brief p. 48, FN13), and the pending claims against C. Wilson and Waldrep were in their *official capacities*, not their individual capacities (Id.). The County both misstates and omits material facts supporting the lower court's ruling. First, the lower court specifically addressed all the issues now rehashed by Appellant without addressing the trial court's actual findings. The Court explained that the pending lawsuit and specific claims asserted against C. Wilson and Waldrep conferred upon them a greater benefit than that of the general Anderson County public in violation of Anderson County Code §2-37(g)(4): (R. p. 11, FN6.) The County just pretends as if the lower court never ruled upon the issue. Second, contrary to the County's brief (see App. Brief, p. 47), C. Wilson and Waldrep *were* named in their individual capacities, not their official capacities in the lawsuit of Preston v. Waldrep & C. Wilson, 2008-CP-04-2776. (See R. p. 10 ("C. Wilson and Waldrep were named, in their individual capacities."); 2640-2647 (caption identifying suit brought against C. Wilson and Waldrep in their "individual capacities"); 1679, lines 20-22 (C. Wilson testifying: Q. "And what capacity did Mr. Preston sue you?" A. In our individual capacities.)) Appellant also ignores that the lower court found Preston, at the time of the Severance Agreement vote, had furnished formal notice of an intention to pursue "tort claims...against...C. Wilson and Waldrep." (R. pp. 10; 2026-2028 ("[T]here also exist a number of causes of action which Mr. Preston will assert against two current Council members..."); 1679, line 11-p. 1680, line 22, C. Wilson (It was clear Pl. Ex. 22 – R. pp. 2026-2028 - referred to C. Wilson and Waldrep.); 419, line 12-21 (Waldrep confirming Pl. Ex. 22 – R. pp. 2026-2028 - refers to him and C. Wilson.) Contrary to the County's statements, the Severance Agreement did release Waldrep and C. Wilson of personal liability and the pending lawsuit was dropped shortly thereafter. Finally, the County also failed to reference the lower court's rejection of its arguments concerning Waldrep's and C. Wilson's voting against their interests. (Compare R. p. 12 (Finding Waldrep's and C. Wilson's votes violated County Code and noting "No exception exists based upon how a Council member votes.") *with* App. Brief, p. 48 (FN 13: C. Wilson and Waldrep voted against the Severance Agreement.)

disqualifying Waldrep's and C. Wilson's votes clearly arose at trial. Appellant made a tactical decision not to raise the quorum issue but instead argued Waldrep and C. Wilson had no conflict of interest. (See, e.g., R. pp. 3068-3069.)

After having litigated and lost, the County sought a legal nullification by way of a Rule 59(e) Motion—or alternatively—through a contemporaneous, post-trial Motion to Amend.<sup>62</sup> (R. pp. 44-49; 58-59.) However, as the trial court found and as Appellant does not challenge, allowing Appellant to interject the quorum argument after judgment would highly prejudice Preston.<sup>63</sup>

**A. Appellant's Quorum Argument Fails Under the Anderson County Code, the County's Own Prior Usage, and State Law**

Altogether ignored by Appellant and thus conceded, the lower court made detailed findings why Appellant's quorum argument otherwise fails. (Compare App. Brief with 11/08/2013 Order, R. pp. 46-49 & 58, FN29 with App. Brief, pp. 47-50.) The trial court first quoted language from the decision of Garris v. Governing Bd. of South Carolina Reinsurance Facility, 333 S.C. 432, 453, 511 S.E.2d 48, 59 (1998), which Appellant had omitted in its filing below and *again* tellingly omits in its brief to this Court. (R. p. 47, FN2 ("The County's Motion omitted the following operative language

---

<sup>62</sup> Appellant's filing of the post-judgment motion to amend tacitly underscores that the County knows its choice in legal strategy waived the quorum issue foreclosing the ability to raise it in a Reconsideration Order.

<sup>63</sup> Unchallenged by Appellant, Preston incorporates herein by reference all of the factual findings of prejudice made by the lower court, which Appellant does not challenge. (R. pp. 45-46, 58 & FN29.)

from Garris...) with App. Brief, p. 49.)<sup>64</sup> The omitted language from the Garris decision stated:

**In the absence of any statutory or other controlling provision**, the common-law rule that a majority of a whole board is necessary to constitute a quorum applies, and the board may do no valid act in the absence of a quorum.

Garris, 333 S.C. at 453 (emphasis added). In turn, as is common with local government bodies, the lower court noted a series of "statutory" and "controlling provisions" modifying application of the common law rule as pertaining to boards in general. Thus, applying the twice omitted language from Garris to facts at bar sinks Appellant's quorum argument, as it well knows.

First, as the trial court found, the Anderson County Code itself establishes what constitutes a quorum based upon presence at the meeting site, not voting eligibility. (R. pp. 46-47.) For example, Anderson County Code §2-37(d) states: "Should sufficient members leave during a meeting, the chairperson shall immediately declare a recess and attempt to obtain a quorum." ACC § 2-37(d).<sup>65</sup> Thus, the trial court correctly concluded

---

<sup>64</sup> The County's Brief cites a series of cases to support the common law proposition that "an interested director or committeeman cannot be counted in order to make up a quorum." (See App. Brief, pp. 48-51. The County simply ignores the lower court's actual ruling wherein it examined various statutory or other controlling provisions altering the common law default, as referenced by the omitted language from Garris. (R. pp. 46-49.) Importantly, re-tooling common law quorum formulations is the norm, not the exception, at the local government level due to council sizes and the necessity to make public decisions. As explained *infra*, the trial court found positive law, controlling provisions (*i.e.*, the Anderson County Code, FOIA, and the State Ethics Act) existed with respect to defining a quorum of Anderson County Council rendering the decisions cited by Plaintiff inapposite.

<sup>65</sup> The provision also states: "Members of county council may excuse themselves briefly during a meeting without loss of a quorum, however, no vote may be taken during the temporary absence of quorum." (Id.) Thus, it is clear the provision uses physical presence at the voting site as the touchstone for determining a quorum.

that consistent with the other provisions cited below, the only instances wherein the Anderson County Code contemplates the loss of a quorum relate to the physical absence of members, not their voting qualification or recusal issues.<sup>66</sup>

Second, as to Preston's Severance Agreement, the County Code did not require a majority of Council to vote on the issue for the vote to be valid, but rather simply a majority of those present and voting to carry the question. (R. p. 47 & FN4.) Anderson County Code §2-37(g) states: "[A] majority vote of those members present and voting shall decide all questions, motions, and other votes." ACC §2-37(g)(3). As the trial court correctly found, the inclusion of this less onerous voting formula evidences an intent to permit governmental action on a vote less than a *majority of a quorum*, a formulation the Anderson County Code elsewhere uses for other types of Council action. See, e.g., ACC §2-36 ("All elections shall be by majority vote of the quorum present.").

Third, Appellant's *own* prior interpretation and usage of the Anderson County Code mirrors the lower court's findings. For example, during a meeting on August 19, 2009, substantially the same facts as those *sub judice* arose. After analyzing the Anderson County Code, the County Attorney opined--on the record--that the Anderson County Code required *only* the *physical* presence of a majority of Council to establish a quorum. (R. p. 47 & FN5; <http://www.andersoncountysc.org/Content/Council/Minutes/OCR/cc08182009.pdf> (pp. 13, lines 29-43, p. 17, line-20, line 37 (Council "ratifying" conduct); R. pp. 32-33, bullet point 5; R. p. 57, FN 28; 3296, lines 33-40; *Id.* at lines 33-

---

<sup>66</sup> See also Rainey v. Haley, 404 S.C. 320, 325, 745 S.E.2d 81, 84 (2013) (Discussing the canon of construction *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* or *inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*).

36) (County Attorney: "Under the County Code it...requires a majority of the council members to be present for there to be a quorum.")

The County Attorney specifically concluded that two members, who had already recused themselves, could physically return to Council Chambers so as to re-establish a quorum but refrain from voting. (*Id.* at lines 38-40) ("Mr. Waldrep and Mr. Moore could certainly still be present and...we would have quorum of council at that point...") Notwithstanding those members' disqualification from voting, then, their *physical presence* permitted them, under the Anderson County Code, to be counted for purposes of a quorum. (*Id.* at lines 40-41.)<sup>67</sup> Indeed, this was Appellant's prior interpretation and usage of its own Code—at least until the case at bar prompted Appellant to about-face and argue the exact opposite.

However, Appellant's interpretation and usage of its Code cannot just blow hot and cold, depending on the most convenient legal position at any given time. This is because Anderson County Code §2-37(g)(12) mandates the interpretation of the County's Code "**shall** be guided by the previous usage of county council..." ACC §2-37(g)(12) (emphasis added).<sup>68</sup> As a result, the lower court correctly rejected Appellant's newly minted quorum argument for yet another reason—it violated the prior usage mandate of the Anderson County Code.

---

<sup>67</sup> Although Appellant spent four pages of its brief discussing its Quorum Argument, it never disclosed that its urged position contradicts the County's prior usage under its own Code. (App. Brief, pp. 47-51.) Appellant made the same omission below. (R. pp. 3177-3244.)

<sup>68</sup> See also ACC § 1-2 (Defining the term shall: "The word "shall" is mandatory.")

Finally, the Anderson County Code expressly incorporated the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") and the State Ethics Act into its meeting procedures. Both FOIA and the State Ethics Act define quorum without reference to voting disqualification. (Compare ACC §2-37(d) ("A quorum shall consist of a majority of the council"), ACC § 2-37(a) ("County council will conduct its meetings in accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, as amended, and the state ethics laws, as amended, and the requirements of those acts and laws, as amended, shall apply to all notices, agenda, minutes, and other aspects of such meetings."); ACC § 2-676 (Mandating compliance with FOIA); ACC §2-352 ("[S]hall comply with the provisions of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act") *with* S.C. CODE ANN. § 30-4-20(e) ("'Quorum' unless otherwise defined by applicable law means a simple majority of the constituent membership of a public body."); see also South Carolina Ethics Opinion; SEC AO98-002 (Nov. 19, 1997) (Analyzing substantially similar facts and concluding: "[D]isqualification under the Ethics Reform Act **does not affect the existence of a quorum.**") (emphasis added); Sanford v. S.C. State Ethics Comm'n, 385 S.C. 483, 500, 685 S.E.2d 600 (2009) (South Carolina courts accord substantial deference to the State Ethics Commission's interpretation of its own enabling legislation.) For the foregoing reasons, the lower court correctly rejected Appellant's Quorum Argument.<sup>69</sup>

---

<sup>69</sup> The County argues in a footnote that the Circuit Court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Amend. (App. Brief, p. 50, FN15.) Having never raised this issue to the trial court in a Motion to Reconsider the Order denying its Motion to Amend, Appellant failed to preserve the issue for appeal. See Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780-81 (2004). Second, Appellant fails to challenge any of the analysis contained in the lower court's order denying its Motion to Amend. Preston incorporates all such unanswered analysis herein by reference. (R. pp. 44-49.) Third, the lower court

4

**VII. APPELLANT SEEKS A REMEDY FOR CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST WHEN THE EVIDENCE FAILED TO SUPPORT THE CLAIM**

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